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"[The engel] carried my spirit away to the desert. 1

saw the Scarlet Woman sitting on the Beast with seven

heads and ten horna, covered with blasphemous names.
The woman wa3 clothed in purple and scarlet, and gilded
with gold and precicus stones and pearls, with a golden
cup in her hand filled with abominations and the unclean
thinga of her fornication.

On her forehead a name had
been written, a my3Cery:

Bahalon the Great, the mother
of harlota and of the abominationa of the Earth.

the woman was drunk from the blood of the Jaints,

from the blood of the martyrs of Jesus.
wondered greatly.”™
Revelation 17:306

I 3aw
and
Seeing her, I



One

"I shall regard all phenomena as the particular dealing of
God with my soul.™
nalysias by a2 Master of the Temple
How shall T write of the mystery and the
terror, of the wonder and pity and splendor of the
sevenfold star that is Babalon? I shall tell of the
tragic life of her most devoted diaciple and belowved son,
Jack Parsons. In doing =o, I will correct previouas
misconceptions while correlating the known facts and wild
legends that lie in sewveral far-flung sources.
KEenneth Grant gives a good description of
Parsons in The Magical Rewviwval:

"Imbued with the idea of the Kingly Man, as
that expression is understood in the Cult of Thelema,
Parsons bent his not inconsiderable energies, physical
and intellectual, to the discovery of his True Will.

"Born on October 2, 1914, in Los Angeles
[descendant of a Hell-Fire Club founder, according to
Michael Hoffman], he lived a lonely childhood, due in
part to his parent3s' broken marriage. He spent a great
deal of his vyouth reading &and day-dreaming, and
nurturing a growing resentment of all interference,
eapecially of the kind posing as 'awthority.' He
developed strong revolutionary tendencies and when he
encountered Crowley's writings - which he first did
through Wilfred T. Smith - he was instantly alive to the
significance of Thelema. He joined Smith's Agape Lodge
[0TC], and, &at the same time, became a Probationer,
1°=10°, of the A\R\"

Smith was a member of Frater Achad's

{Charles Stansfeld Jones) O0T0 lodge in Vancouver. He met

Crowley there in 1915. Smith moved to California in
1930, He immediately founded the Agape Lodge in
Fasadena. Frater Achad kept the Vancouver lodge open
during this period, under a different name. It would

later close. In "Rlchemical Conspiracy and the Death of



the West™ Michael Hoffman writes of Parsons. Hoffman
tells us that the Ordo Templi Orientis (0TO) had a temple
on nearby Mount Palomar. The local Indiens regarded the
mountain as holy. Hoffman says, "The O.T.0. believed that
Palomar was the sexual chakra of the Earth.”™ Parsons
commited regularly between Palomar and Pasadena. The
Mount Palomar Observatory opened in 19489, Smith probably
consecrated his temple on Palomar soon after his mowve to
California in 1930, before the Chservatory was planned.

Palomar lies just minutes north of the 33rd
parallel. This i3 significant because 33 is an important
number in masonic symbolism. It is the number of the
highest grade of the Scottish Rite. It is also the number
of years Christ walked on the earth. Hoffman mentions the
33 bones of the human spinal cord. This brings to mind
kundalini yoga. Crowley's 0T0 was a guasi-mesonic order.
The higher grades show easoteric Hindu influences of a
sexual nature.

Parsons first met Smith in 1939. He joined
the Agape Lodge in 1941. Parsons was to be its head
during the turkid 19403 {ca. 194201947). Smith was known
in the Lodge as Frater Velle Omnia Velle Hihil (aka Fra.

132). He was &an expatriate Englishman. Smith had =a
reputation for womenizing that egualled Crowley's.
Parsons saw Smith as a second £father. The two stayed

close throughout their liwves. Smith wrote to Crowley in
March, 1941, ™I think I hawe at long last a really
excellent man, John Parsons. BAnd starting next Tuesday he
begins B course of talks with a wview to enlarging our
scope. He has an excellent mind and much better intellect

than myself... John Parsons is going to be waluable.™
Soror Estai (actress Jane Wolfe) had been
with Crowley at Cefalu before coming to California. She

recorded her first impression of Parsons in her Magical
Record for December, 1940:

"Unknown to me, John Whiteside Parsons, =a
newcomer, began astral travels. This knowledge decided
Begina [Kahl] to undertake similar work. All of which I
learned after making my own decision. So the time must
be propitious.

"Incidentally, I take Jack Parsons to be the



child who 'shall behold them all' [i.e., the Mysteries.
See The Book of the Law I: 54055].

"2& wyears of age, &'2™, wvital, potentielly
bisexual at the wery least, Uniwversity of the State of
California and Cal. Tech., now engaged in Cal Tech
chemical laboratories developing 'bigger and better?®

explogives for Uncle Sam. Trawels under sealed orders

from the government. Writes poetry - 'sensuoous only',
he says. Lover of mmsic, which he seems to lnow
thoroughly. I see him as the real successor of Therion
[Crowley]. Passionate; and has made the vilest analyses

result in a species of exaltation after the ewvent. Has
had mystical experiences which gawve him a 3ense of
equality =11l round, although he i3 hierarchical in
feeling and in the established order.™
Parsons" father died in 1942. He left his
son & mansion in an expensive part of Pasadena. This may
have been his way of making up to hiszs s3on for his
childhocd. Parsons shocked the staid residents of this
well-manicured neighborhood when he started renting out

rooms to less-than-desirable tenants. "Cnly atheists and
those of a Bohemian disposition,™ his newspaper ad
stated. The frequent wvisitors, noisy parties, and
questionable goings-on raised many eyebrows. Parasons

needed the extra income these renters paid. His progress
with rockets had yet to yield any success.

Alva Rogers was a long-time resident of the
Parsons house on Orange Street. BRogers became associated
with the house after attending several science fiction

meetings there. Parsons held these informal meetings
regularly on weekends. ERogers wrote, "Mundane souls were
unceremonicusly rejected a3 tenants. There was &

professional fortune teller and seer who always wWore
appropriate dresses and decorated her apartment with
symbols and artifacts of arcane lore. There was a lady,
well past middle age but 3till strikingly beautiful, who
claimed to have been at various times the mistress of half
the famous men in France. There was a man who had been a
renowned organist in the great movie palaces of the silent
era. They were characters all... [From the rent they
paid] Jack admitted that he was one of Crowley's main



sources of money in hmerica.™

Lt one  point local police came to
investigate an alleged backyard ceremony. L pregnant
woman had reportedly Jjumped nude through a £fire nine
times. The police made it elear how absurd they thought
the claim was. Parsons easily assured them of his
community standing. He was an important rocket scientist
with a professional reputation to uphold.

Burton Wolfe writes of a sixteen-year—-old
boy who reported Parsons to the police. He told them that
Parsona' followers had forcibly sodomized him during =
Black Mass at the house. The police investigated. They
found Parsons' cult to be little more than ™an
crganization dedicated to religious and philosophical
speculation, with respectable members such as a Pasadena
bank president, doctors, lawyers, and Hollywood actors.™
At one point the FBI became involwved after receiving some
anonymous letters. One bore the signature "An American
Soldier.”™ The police again cleared Parsons of all
charges. They would later stand by their findings when
further accusations arose.



Two
"There is a flame.™
Liber 4% (wv. 20)

Wilfred Smith's mistress of many years was
Begina Kahl. She was also his High Priestess of the
Gnostic Mass. Separate photos of her and Smith are in The
Equineox wol. TEE, o . 10. Smith had &a charming
personality, a strong affinity for the opposite sex, and
what Grant calls "something more than an aptitude for
magick.™ One of Smith's congquests was Soror Grimaud, aka
Helen Northrup. She was Parsons' first wife.

Helen bore Smith & child in 1943. Crowley
decided that was enough of Smith"s sexual infidelity. His
affeirs were a detriment to the Order. Crowley expelled
him through &an ingeniocus means. Crowley drew up =&
horoscope for Smith based on the unusual circumstance of
his birth. Smith's horoscope had a complex of eight
planets. ©One could interpret this horoscope as if Smith
were an avatar of some god. This was something Crowley
had found in only one other instance, that of Shakespeare.

Crowley sent 5Smith on a Grand Magical
Betirement to find the god within himself. Crowley wrote
Libher Apothecais {aka Liber 132) for Smith to use as his
guide. Smith's Retirement took place on Temple Hill at
Rancho Royale, not Mount Palomar. Helen accompanied him.
Crowley formelly expelled Smith in late 1943. Parsons
then became RActing Head of the Lodge. BRegina Eahl would
die during Smith's Magical Betirement, in late 1945 or
early 1946. Her untimely death deeply depressed him.

Parsons divorced Helen in 1843. In the
meantime he struck up a relationship with her younger
gister Betty. Like Helen, Betty &acted as Parsons’

priestess at the Gnostic Mass. She was also his partner
in the performance of 9th Degree magic. This is the magic
of inducing altered states through prolonged sexual
ec3stasy. At Parsons" urging the teenage Betty left the
University of Southern California (U3C), to her parents’



chagrin.

Enter "Frater H."™ Grant refers to him as
confidence trickster who had wormed his way intoc the

a

0.T.0. on the pretence of being interested in Magick.™ He
was ™s3till at large [1972], having grown wealthy and
famous by a misuse of the secret knowledge which he had
wormed out of Parsons.™ Other writers refer to him merely
as. "Frater "X." The late Frater X"s identity is now
clearly & matter of public record. I see no reason to do
anything other than call him by name. He was L. Ron
Hubbard: philosopher, world traveller, science fiction
author, and founder of Scientology.

Parsons was young and impressionable. He

had gone through repeated upheavals during his short
life. He was vulnerable. Hubbard mede a big impression
on him. Parsons forgot his obligation and wiclated his
gath to the Order. He rewvealed to Hubbard the secrets of
the highest grades of the 0TO.

Parsons wrote to Crowley in July, 1945,
"About three months ago I met [Hubbard], a writer and
explorer of whom I had known for some time [because he

wrote science fiction]... He moved in with me about two
months ago, and although Betty and I are 3till friendly,
she has transferred her sexual affections to him... We

are pooling our resources in a partnership that will act
a3 a limited company to control our business wentures. I
think T have made a great gain, and as Betty and I are the
best of friends there is little loss... I need a magical
partner. I have many experiments in mind..."

The megical partner Parsons envisioned was
to be his partner in a %th Degree working. Grant writes,
"Having lost confidence in women, Parsons decided to
attract an Elemental Spirit to take Betty"s place...™
These a3spirits are called Elementals because of their
association with the four elements of the ancients. To
summon one requires a large amount of magical energy, the
kind generated by an 8th Degree working. The practice of
the 8th Degree is a 3olo sexual rite.

Says Grant, "The instructions that accompany
the eighth Degree of the 0.T.0. contain methods for
evoking an Elemental, or familiar spirit. It is said to



be an ea3sy matter to attract such a apirit because the
souls of the elements desire constantly to be absorbed
into the cycle of human evoclution, this being the only way
in which they can achieve salvation and perpetuity of
existence. On being appropriated by a human organism, the
elemental finally becomes absorbed in the immortal
principle in man.™ Compare Jim Morrison's remark to an
interviewer that the air arcund us is full of spirits.
"They know we exist, and envy us our bodies.™

Grant dquotes from the inatructions for the
&th Degree, written about the adept desirous of performing
such an operation:

i That he choose wisely a reascnable
soul, docile, apt, beautiful, and in all ways worthy of
love.

"{2) That he fall not away from love of the
Great Goddesa into love of thia inferior, but give only
a3 & master and of his mercy, knowing that this aslsc is
service to the Goddess.

"{3) That of such familiar spirits he have
but four [one for each element?]. And let him regulate
their service, appointing hours for each.

"{4) That he treat them with kindness and
firmness, being on his guard against their tricks.

"This being said, it is enough; for to have
them is but the pains to call them forth from their
homes. And the Spirita of the Elemental Tableta giwven
by Dr. Dee and 5ir Kelley are the best...”

In 1943 Parson3 published & brief poem in
the Oriflamme, an OT0 publicetion. At this point it bears
repeating:

"I hight Don Quixote, I live on pevote,
marijuana, morphine and cocaine,
I never know sadness, but only a madness
that burns at the heart and the brain.
I 3ee each charwoman, ec3atatic, inhuman,
angelic, demonic, divine.
Each wagon a dragon, each beer mug a flagon

that brims with ambrosial wine.™

Symonds and Wilson have documented that
narcotics and hallucinogens were a basic asteple of



Crowley'™s magical diet. It is ea3aier to induce astral
vigion when one alternately dulls and excites the senses
by chemical means. One cannot underemphasize the role of
drugs here. I suspect they were a part of the Babalon
Working. Combined with sex magic, this makes a powerful
tool.



Three

to truly formulate your Will... is only possible with
the wand."™
2nalysis by a Maater of the Tenple

Using the "Angelick™ language channelled by
Elizakethan astrologer John Dee and his scribe Edward
Kelley, Parsons began his operation. He recited the
Seventh RAire {or Rethyr) in the original Enochian. Per
Crowley'a adwvice, he kept diligent records. Parsons would
later compare some of the curious results to EKelley's own
criminal life. The surviving fragments of Parsons'
Bebalon Working are now the property of the 0T0. Parsons'
gecond wife Marjorie Cameron holds the copyright to
Freedom is a Two-Edged Sword.

The preliminaries began January 4, 1946 at 9
L. Prokofiev's WViolin Concerte playved loudly on the
phonograph. The formal working would begin the following
evening. RBussell Miller refers to it eleven nights of
"talisman waving.™ Later that month Parsons would write
Crowley describing his progreas. He noted a spontanecus
windstorm a3 a curious side-effect. It began the asecond
day and lasted throughout the Babalon Working. Parsons
awoke on the sixth day of the Working, Januery 10. He
heard nine loud, unexplainable knocks. I note a
gimilarity to the nine regular knocks that Whitley
Strieber felt confirmed the existence of hia WViaitors.
Parsons got out of bed. He noticed a lemp lay smashed on
the floor. The knocks were repeated on the 15th.
January 15 was the eleventh and final day.

Hubbard perceived a apirit "clad in a black robke and

heving an ewvil pasty face.™ Grant says this was Smith,
who had fajiled to identify the god within himself. Grant
says Smith astrally attacked Parsons in revenge. The

electricity went out as they began invoking and something
struck Hubbard on the right shoulder. It knocked a candle
from his hand. "He called me,™ Parson3a wWrote, "and we
obhaerved a brownish-yellow light about seven feet high. I



brandished a magical sword, =and it disappeared. Ron's
right arm was paralyzed for the reat of the night.™
Parsons awakened later that night after hearing =a
"buzzing, metallic™ woice. The woice cried, "Let me go
free!™ Parsons sleepily performed the brief magical
ocperation (non-sexual) known as the License to Depart. It
is in the Goetia, or Lesaser HKey of Solomon. Smith's
spirit was free to return to his body.

Parsons wrote Crowley, ™I hawe diligently
followed the VIIIth Degree instructions as (a) creation of
new orders of beings with consecrated talismanic images.
Possible connectiwve result: increase in writing output;
(b) Invocation of Mother Goddess, using Priest's call in
mass and silver cup as talisman; sometimes using suitable
poetry such as Venus. Possible connectiwve result: loss
of Betty'"s affections as preliminary to (c) Invocation of
LRir Elemental Kerub [Cherub]... in Enochian Air Tablet.™
The rite ended with Parsons commanding the spirit to
appear in human form. On January 18 they went into the
Mojave Desert to recuperate. Parsons turned to Hubbard at
the end of the trip and said simply, ™It is done.™

On February 23, 194& Parsons triumphantly
wrote to Crowley, "I hawve my elemental! She turned up one
night after the conclusion of the Operation, and has been
with me since.™ The Elemental was Marjorie Cameron,
sprung from Parsons' head like Sophia from the Godhead or
Pallas Athena from Zeus. She adopted the megical name
"Candida, ™ calling herself "Candy™ for short. Soon she
married Parsons, and helped him with his magic.

Crowley sent Parsons an admonishment about
Cameron. He reminded him of Eliphas Levi's advice that,
"The lowve of the Magus for such things [Elementals] is
insensate and may destroy him.™ Be aware that Crowley
considered himself to be the reincarnation of Levi.
Crowley alsoc claimed to hawe intervened personally on
Parsons" behalf, presumably on the astral plane. He does
not say. It is possible Crowley knew someone who could
send a girl like Cameron to Parsons. Cameron was from New
York, though she had been born in Iowa and raised in the
"Cthulhu Country™ of Wisconsin. Crowley had spent asome
time in New York during World War I. Cameron spent most



of her February back in New York wvisiting her mother.
Hubbard as out of town on business.

Onn February 28, Parsons made a 3oclo trip
back to the desert and received Liber 49 in an unexplained
manner. Jacgues Vallee saya Parsons claimed to have met a
Venusian there in 1945 or 1946. Without the exact date,
one cannot tell if the Venusian was the implied source of
Liber 4%. Paraons took this to be an affirmation of the
need to produce a2 magical child. When Hubbard returned he
channelled a message from a red-haired, green-eyed angel
ordering them to "Light firat flame at 10 pm, March 2,
1946. The vyear of Babalon is 4063." That would be 2118
BC, the significance of which I have not determined.
Cameron returned from New York and moved in with Parsons.
She was now to be an integral part of the Babalon
Working. After Parsonsa' initial contact with the Beyond,
Hubbard began acting a3 seer. Parsona called him Scribe
in his notes. I do not know whether Hubbkard actually
participated in the higher workings of the 0T0. Based on
other sourcea I will discuss shortly it is clear he was
present when Parsons did.

The operation began as directed on March 2.
That evening & fire atarted in Parasona' chimney. Later he
decided it had occurred when he had smashed an image of
Pan a3 a sacrifice. The idol had bkeen a favorite peracnal
pogseasion. The papers containing the Seventh Aire that
he burned may have had something to do with the fire as
well. Parsons expressed hia confidence, but wrote, "Now I
can do no more than pray and wait.™

Between the second and fourth of March,
1946, Paraons recorded in a letter to Crowley what he
described a3 "the moast devastating experience of my life.
I believe it was the result of the IXth Degree working
with the girl who answered my elemental summons. I hawve
been in direct communication with one who is most Holy and
beautiful, mentioned in The Book of the Law. I cannot
write the name at present.” Secretly he did write her
name. He called her Babalon. The one identified in The
Book of the Law i3 the Egyptian goddess Nuit. In Liber 49
Babalon say3 3he i3 the inecestuocus deughter of Nuit and
Horus. Her avatar on sarth is the Scarlet Woman. Babalon



i3 not mentioned in The Book of the Law. The Scarlet
Woman is.

Parsons documented the working in The Book
of Babalon, of which & little survives. Liber 4% he came
to 3ee a3 a heretical fourth chapter of The Book of the
Law. There are only three. He saw the four chapters as
corresponding to the four lettera of the ineffable name of
God: YHWH, the Hebrew Yod He WVau He. He assigned one
chapter to each letter amd to what each letter
represented. Unknown to Parsons, Frater Achad would
proclaim the Aeon of another goddess in Vancouver, the
Egyptian Maat. Crowley expelled Achad from the Order as
well.



Four

"I will provide the wehicle.™
Bebalon to Parsons, March 1, 1946
The purpose of Parsons' 9th Degree working
wag the birth of a child into whom Babalon would
incarnate. It had =said in The Book of the Law four
decades earlier that this child would be "mightier than
all the kings of the Earth.™ Aleister Crowley had once
thought Frater Achad was this magical child. Parsons came
to think differently. I quote from Crowley's Moonchild to
explain the concept.
= [Tlhey wanted wery much to produce =&
man wWho should not be bound up in his heredity, and
should have the environment which they desired for him.
"They started in paraphysical ways; that is,

they repudiated mnatural generation altogether. They
made figures of brass, and tried to induce soculs to
indwell them. In some accounts we read that they

succeeded; Friar Bacon was credited with one such
Homonculus; 3o was Albertus Magnus, and, I think,
Paracelsus...

"But other magicianz scught to make this
Homonculus in a way closer to nature. In &211 these
cases they had held that enviromment could be modified
at will by the application of telesmata or sympathetic
figures. For example, a nine-pointed star would attract
the influence which they called Luna - not meaning the
actual moon, bot an idea similar to the poets' idea of
her. By surrounding an object with such stars, with
similarly-disposed herbs, perfumes, metals, talismans,
and 3o on, and by carefully keeping off all other
influences by parallel methods, they hoped to invest the
original object so treated with the Lunar gualities, and
no others...

"They thought that by performing this
experiment 1in a specially prepared place, a place
protected magically against all incompatible forces, and




by invoking into that place some one force which they
desired, some tremendously powerful being, angel or
archangel - and they had conjurations which they thought
capable of doing this - that they would be able to cause
the incarnation of beings of infinite knowledge and
power, who would be able to bring the whole world into
Light and Truth."™
RBobert Anton Wilson offers the groteague
alternative of £filling a Jjar with horse manore and
ejaculating into it repeatedly. He says this is in some

manuscripts of the Goetia. See Franz Hartmann's
Paracelsus: Life and Propheciea for another description
of how to produce a homonculus. Dusty Sklar mentions

Hitler's presence at another attempt before his rise to
power. She does not say if this was a sexual rite.
Crowley was now a dying man with a hercin
problem caused by respiratory problems. Abkout Parsons'
claims he was not happy. ©Grant blames Crowley's asge and
his health. Crowley wrote Parsons, "You have got me
completely puzzled by your remarks about the elemental -
the danger of discussing or copying anything [Parsons'

revelations were still a closely-guarded secret]. I
thought I had 2 most morbid imagination, as good as any
man's, but it seems I have not. I cannot £form the
3lightest idea what you can possibly mean.”™ (April 18,
1846.) Frater Saturnus ({Karl Germer) was a <California
resident and Outer Head of the Order for North America at
the time. To him Crowley wrote, "Epparently he, or

Hubbard, or somebeody, i3 producing a Moonchild. I get
fairly frantic when I contemplate the idiocy of these

louts.™ BAgain, to Germer on May 31, 194&:
"The gueation of Frater 210 [Parsons] a3eems
to me very typical. He reminda me up to a point -

though he is on a muach lower plane than they - of two
men who joined the Order shortly after I took it over
[Charles Stansfeld Jones and Victor Neuburg]: both
cades seel to me to have certain aignificance if applied
to the present poaition of Frater 210.

"Both cases were alike in thias - that after
a wvery short pericd of training both had more than
fulfilled their early promiae; they could claim not only



attainment, but achievement - and that in no small
degree. I am sorry that there iz no posasibility of
making any similar claim on behalf of Frater 210...

"He has got & miraculous illumination which
rimes with nothing, and he has apparently lost all his
peraonal independence.™

Parsons did not impregnate Cameron despite

his enthusizsm. Grant mentiona Crowley's failure to
reincarnate wvia Cameron, implying Crowley himself waa to
ke the Moonchild. Michael Bertiaux says Crowley
incarnated as a female somewhere in Asia. Crowley had
apparently predicted this before his death. Crowley died
December 1, 1947, long after the Babalon Working began -
and ended. Not nine months but nine years later, Cameron
would claim to be Babalon herself, and to have given birth
to 2 Magical Child om the astral plane. Grant says this
Child matured and now resides beyond the aphere of Yuggoth
(Pluto) .

Grant writes, "The [Babalon] Working
began... Jjust prior to the wawve of unexplained aerial
phenomena now recalled as the "Great Flying Saucer Flap®.
Parsons opened a door and something flew in.™ It may hawve
been the atomic bomb that opened that door. Cameron once
saw a flying saucer and supposed it was the "war-engine™
mentioned in The Book of the Law IITI:7-8. She thought the
earth would explode and the saucers would take her and her
friends back to her original home on Mars. Franciz King
mentions Parsons' belief in flying saucers. Parsons ifelt
the saucers "would play a part in converting the world to
Crowleyanity." BAncother Aerojet employee, Daniel Fry, saw
a saucer in 1950. He went on to become an active figure
in 19503 contacteeism. Late science fiction writer Philip
K. Dick speculates in WVALIS about the Paraclete. The
Paraclete is the Logos or Holy Spirit of the Manicheans.
Bedouins found the Nag Hammadi library in Egypt in 1945.
Dick says the Paraclete awoke from its slumber when the
tranzlation of these documents began a couple years
later. Did Parsons help open this door as well?

Something happened to make the Moonchild

manifest herself in popular culture. There is a song of
the same name on King Crimson's first album (196%). She



also is a sexy heroine in Nicola Cuti's comic books. The
movie Ghostbusters II contains a confused attempt to
present a similar concept.

Cameron appeared in Kenneth Anger's short
film Inauguration of the Pleasure Dome in 1554. Cameron
starred both as the Scarlet Woman and Keli. Pictures of
her in make-up are in The Aleister Crowley Scrapbook and
The Equinox wol. IIT, no. 10. 5She was also in the Curtis
Harrington horror £ilm HNight Tide in 1861 with Dennis
Hopper. Harrington had been in Inauguration of the
Pleasure Dome a3 well. His Wormwood Star is a profile of
Cameron. Anger is better known to many as author of the
Hollywood Babylon books. He missed a good bet by not
calling them Hollywood Babalon.

The Church of Thelema used Parsons' daily
performance of the Gnostic Mass a3 a recruiting ground for
the 0TO0. Cne wonders what influence the publication of
the Nag Hammadi library would hawve had on the mass. Other
dramatic ewvents cccurring in 1947 include the invention of
the transistor, the breaking of the sound barrier, the
founding of Israel, the discovery of the Dead Sea Scrolls,
and the organization of the CIA. I turn now to other
sources, to see what effect Jack Parsons had on the
material plane.



Five
"What is the tumult among the stars that hawve shone 3o
atill till now2?"
The Birth of Babalon

The physical moon interested Parsons as
well. To balance his night s3ide, Parsons by day was &
chemical engineer. He was &a self-taught explosives
expert. His innovative work and bold experimentation were
instrumental during World War II. He helped lay the
foundation for America's getting into space. Some of his
papers remain classified by our government.

JPFL. began inm 1936 a3 the Guggenheim
Aeronautical Laboratory, California Institute of
Technology (GRALCIT). GALCIT started as a rocket project
funded and pursued by a group of amateurs. The group was
under the direction of the well-known Hungarian professor
Theodore wvon Karmen. This group made many innovations in
propulsion theory. They successfully eapplied this
knowledge to physical teats of rocket engines. Koppes
says, "...the GALCIT researchers could plausikly claim
that they - not PRobert Goddard or the German WVO2
experimenters — laid the foundation for the development of
MAmerican rocket and missile technology.™

The public considered rockets to be science
fiction in the 1930s. The labkel was not a compliment. A
few dreamers like Theodore won Karman contemplated it
despite peer pressure. So did his graduate student and
surrogate son Frank J. Malina.

Parsons and &another enthusiast named Ed
Forman heard a speech given by William Bollay. Bollay was
one of won Karman's graduate students. They ingquired at
GALCIT &and Bollay referred them to Malina. Heither
Parsons nor Formen had ewver attended college. Both had
positive gqualities that attracted Malina to them. Forman
wa3 an expert mechanic. Parsons had worked for several
black powder companies. Koppea 3av3a he "possesased an
encyclopedic command of explosives and similar



chemicals.™ Arthur Lyons records hia practice of
trawvelling to the 3ites of accidental industrial

explosions. This was how he sought new ideas for his
work.

Parsons and Forman were practical men. They
were not interested in theory. They wanted teo launch
rockets. They were prepared to spend long hours

experimenting by trial and error. So was Malina, but he
wag alsoc & trained theoretician. WVon Karman insisted on
working out the theoretical aspects before any experiments
could begin. Impatience often led to tension with Parsons
and Forman. Malina was often caught between them and his
mentor, von Karman.

Malina went to Roswell, New Mexico to wisit
ex-Nazi Robert Goddard during the summer of 1936.
Boswell was to be the site of an alleged £flying saucer
crash in 1947. Though Goddard was polite enough on the
surface, he showed 3igns of &a deep-seated nervous
tension. Malina found him too secretive. Goddard thought
Malina was trying to steal the secrets of his twenty-year
CAreer.

By this time Malina believed he had the
theoretical background to begin experimenting with
rockets. GALCIT did not provide any funding, nor the
facilities. Malina, Parsons, and Forman paid for
everything. They performed their experiments between
classes and their various jobs. They spent their weekends
searching the city for used equipment. Whoever happened
to have money at the time would pay for the purchase.
They almost gave up in June, 1936 when they could not
raise 5120 to buy a needed piece of eguipment. Koppes
writes, ™At one point Malina and Parsons considered
writing a movie script about flight to the moon which they
hoped to sell to Hollywood to raise funds.™ I have found
no record of the acript's existence.

Their first test ended in failure when a
broken  fuel line ignited. It became a flaming
gidewinder. The experimenters ran for their liwes. Later
teats fared somewhat better. The group still measured
success in how many 3seconds the motor fired. Their
results did attract enough attention to gain a little



moral and finmancial support from other graduate students.
Von Karman offered his support in the form of student aid
and a move on-campus in the spring of 1937.

Campus residents soon  resented their
ELESEnCce. Their testing was loud and vioclent.
Immediately after their arriwval on campus, the group met
their first disaster. They had mounted a rocket motor to
a fifty-foot pendulum in their laboratory. They measured
the &awing of the pendulum to calculate the thrust
produced. The first motor tested exploded. & cloud of
methyl alcohol and nitrogen dioxide f£illed the building.
A thin layer of rust formed on meny pieces of waluable
equipment. This later gawve Parsons the ground-bresking
idea of using red fuming nitric acid as an oxidizer.
Students started to call the group call the Suicide Sguad.

The ecollege ordered them out of the
building. WVon Karman let them attach a new testing mount
to an exterior wall. They mede it five times stronger
than they thought necessary. In 183% another motor
exploded and piece of steel was thrown into the wall where
Malina had been standing. WVon Kerman had called him away
just moments earlier. Surprisingly, none of the original
group was injured during their many tests.

L paper published in December of that year
by Malina and a grad student appropriately named Apollo
brought the group the mixed blessing of publicity.
Several major US papers printed their story and their
picture. A local radic station wanted to broadcast the
sound of a motor firing. Koppes does not say if the event

ever took place. Malina lamented the fuss. The papers
regularly predicted flights to the moon, and ran many
illustrations of the idea. Ine man offered to ride a

rocket up into the air at a fair and parachute down.
Malina declined. He remembered how the press had turned
on Goddard after he didn't immediately produce mass
transit to the moon.

In May, 1938 they achieved their best
results yet, running a motor for longer than a minute.
Howewver, the graduate students £finished their term and
drifted away. Malina became busy on other projects as his
Ph.D. drew near. Thoughts of a career began to take



precedence. A chance wisit by Army Air Corps commanding
general H.H. Arnold changed everything. The possible
military applications and the prospect of a war WwWith
GFermany intrigued Arncold. Money began coming in to the
GALCIT experimenters.

Lean times had forced Parsons and Forman to
take Jobs with Halifax Powder Company in the Mojave
Degert. Even 3o, they had managed to launch a few
black-powder rockets of their own. Now they were free to
experiment full-time, but Melina for one regented working
on military projects. Space travel wa3s his goal, Dot
better munitions. Honetheless, the group now had more
money then they ever, enough to satisfy both kinds of
research.

Parsons experienced repeated failures over
the next few year3, in his attempts at devising a better
fuel configuration. He needed one that would burn long
enough to generate the thrust needed to propel a rocket
high into the atmosphere. In 1940 won Karman and Malina
returned to the drawing board and showed on paper the
feasibility of long-duration burns. The Army immediately
doubled their funding. This infuriated Goddard. GALCIT
leased seven acres of land from Pasadena 3ix miles from
campus in the Arroyo Seco. The land was near a dam called
the Dewil's Gate. The schocl never missed them.



Six

Only in the irrational and unknown direction can we come
to it [wisdom] again.™

Letter to Cameron, late 1940s

The £firat few buildings erected in the
Arroyo in 1940 were the beginning of today's JPL. Hoffman
points out that Hillaide Strangler Kenneth Bianchi would
later "deposit his wictimas in ceremonial order™ nearby.
Malina, Parsona and Forman moved their living dQuarters
there from the campus in 1%41. &3 the imminence of war
became greater, funding increased more than five times for
1942,

The group sSucceeded in producing rocket
motora reliable enough for flying airplanes. ©Called JATOs
— Jet-assiated takeoffs - they were 3till crude motors
capable of flying only a amall plane from & large runway.
The firat auccesaful flight was August 12, 1941. This
flight brought the group a contract with the Navy. The
new contract had even atricter performance requirements.
They accepted it with some hesitation. The group did not
mow 1if they could fulfill the obligation. They had
diacovered that they could not be store the rocketa for
any length of time without their spontaneocusly exploding.
They alsoc could not experience any 3Severe temperature
changes.

Parsons pondered this azituation at length.
Then intuition struck. Black powder had the same problems
in any form. Why not abandon it altogether? Instead of
brittle charcoal, Parsons awitched to bituminous asphalt.
For saltpeter he substituted potassium perchlorate as an
oxidizer. Koppes say3 Parsons got the idea from watching
a crew 3eal a flat roof with ctar. Malina said Parsons
knew of Greek fire, an aaphalt-based material used by the
ancients.

It worked. Further refinements resulted in
a solid rocket-fuel used extensively in the last years of
World War II. Their attentions were also on liguid



propellants, and they were successful there as well. In
July 1940 they had begun dabbling in the field. The first
lead came when one of the researchers found a reference in
an old textbook. He read that hydrocarbon fuels would
produce a large amount of thrust for a very small wvolume.

Parsons'" contribution was to use red fuming
nitric acid as an oxidizer, rather than the liquid oxygen
preferred by Goddard and the Germans. This led them to
produce their first 1000-1b thrust unit in October, 1941.
They struggled with further instebilities wuntil Malina
suggeated switching to a different fuel. This worked so
well that in April, 1942 they flew & bomber with the
newly-perfected JATOs. Said Malina, "We now have
gomething that really works and we should be akle to help
give the Fasciats hell!"™ Von Karman called it ™the
beginning of practical rocketry in the United States.™
They now had funding amounting to several hundred thousand
dollars a year. Thia was a large figure in those days for
the work of a few men.

In March, 1942 wvon Kermen, Malina, Parsons,
Forman, and two others formed the Aerojet Corporation.
Each of the six put up £200 and assigned all patent rights
to the corporation. The £firat couple years wWere
uncertain. Once everything had settled, & matual
relationship developed between GALCIT and Aerocjet.
Parsons, Formen, and a third partner gquit GALCIT to work
full-time at Aerojet. Von Karman contracted with the new
firm as a consultant. Other emplovees shifted between the
two organizations as needed. herojet often tested new
products at GALCIT. GALCIT projects were often deaigned
at Asrojet.

GALCIT expanded into JPL in 1944. It became
a permanent Univeraity of Southernm California ({USC)
facility operated by the California Inatitute of
Technology (Cal Tech). Their main customer was the Army
Ordnance Corps. They researched missile technology and
developed the United Statea' first nuclear missiles, the
Corporal and the Sergeant. Getting into space remained a
dream of the staff. They launched the WAC Corporal here
in 1945. It was the first man-made object to leave the
atmosphere.



Parsons and some of the other owners sold
their Aerojet astock for wvery low pricea after the war.
Those who did not profited from their foreaight. Parsons
returned to GALCIT, now JPL. He ascon left for potentially
better opportunities. He never found them.

Malina 1left JFL to become head of the
scientific research division of UNESCC in France. He died
there in 1%8l. The question may arise how Jacgues Vallee
firast heard of Parsons. He references John Keel, but I
have & theory of my own. Vallee is from France. He may
have met Malina there. Malina would have been a popular
man when describing his old GALCIT days with Parsons. IE
Vallee never knew Malina persconally, he may have known
somebody who did. Vallee suggests that JPL would deny
Parsons ever existed. ks evidenced by the memorial
plaque, the oppo3ite is actually the case.

Others have written about the early days of
JPL and GALCIT as well. Chapman references one in his
bibliography. Koppea reproducesa a group photo after pg.

112 that includes Parsons. I have not seen it printed
elaewhere. Malina and wvon Karman are eapecially easy to
look up. References abound. For his contributions to

science, Parsons enjoys the singular distinction of having
a crater on the moon named after him. Parsons Crater is
at 37 N latitude, 171 W longitude. Appropriately enough,
a3 Staley points out, it is on the dark aide of the moon.



Seven

"This is the way of it. Star, star, burning bright.
Moon, witch moon.™
Liber 49 ({v. 69}

I mentioned Parsons' interest in science
fiction, a field that grew while Parsons was testing
rockets and worshipping the Goddess. I told of the idea
he and Malina had to write a movie script, an idea that

never came to pass. He did work on apecial efiects
explosions for Hollywood in the late 1940%3 or early
i Ll A science-fiction discussion group met at
Parsons' house on Saturdays. &A.E. wan Vogt was one of

many who wisited. Hubbard was a science fiction writer.
He has sewveral nowels in print today, and many non-fiction
Scientology worka. New titles continue to be added to
Hubbard's canon. Parsons" favorite author was not
Hubbard. It was Jack Williemson. Parsons' favorite nowvel
was Williamson's Darker Than You Think (1940). Williamson
first met Parsons at a meeting of the Los Angeles Science
Fantasy Society im 1940 or 1941. The OT0 was still
meeting at Smith's house. Williamson recorded the ewvent
in his autobiocgraphy, Wonder's Child:

"T met John Parsons. An odd enigme to me,
he was & rocket engineer with unexpected leanings toward
the occult. He wanted to meet me because I'd written
Darker Than You Think - & good many people hawve taken it
more seriously than I ever did; witches now and then
have taken me for a fellow Wiccan.

"Parsons belonged to the O0T0, an underground
order founded, I think, by the satanist Aleister
Crowley. Ome night Clewe Cartmill and I were allowed to
climb after him intoe an attic to attend a asecret
meeting. The ritual was disappointingly tame. There
was no nmude wirgin on the altar. Satan was not invoked.

"Yet the priest impressed me. He was a
lean, dynamic little man with bright, light blue eyes,
driven by & wirulent hatred of God. Talking toc him



after the ceremony, I found that he was the son of a
British clergyman who mast have been the real target of
that savage animosity.™
It sounds like Williamson met the Great
Beast himaelf, Aleister Crowley. Did he? I checked
geveral of Crowley's biographies. In 1905, he and ERoae
had passed through the United Statea on their way to
India, and even aspent & brief honeymoon in the new
American possession of Hawaii. Hia only stay in the
continental United States occurred during the first World
War. He wisited Frater Achad in Vancouwver in 1%15. He
then moved to New York. Crowley left the United States in
191%. He never returned. Crowley made a few trips to
Germany in the late 19303 to visit the 0TC. After that he
remained on the island of Great Britain. Crowley died
there in 1947. Williamson's implication of a meeting with
Crowley looka to be little more than a aetup for a few
derogatory remarks about what he called a satanist.
Williamson concludea: ™In Pasadena not long
agoe, walking acroas the grounda of the Jet Propulsion
Laboratory, I wa3 Jolted to gSee Parsons' name ol a
memorial tablet set up to honor the £irst martyrs to space
[emphasis added]. He had written me once about testing
multicellular solid-fuel rocketa designed after thoae in
my 3tory 'The Crucible of Power'. When I £first heard
gbout his death I wondered if my own rockets had killed
him."™
Darker Than You Think is the s3story of
hereditary werewolvea who have discovered their true
beatial nature. They aeek to revive the old ways and the
old gods. They accomplish thia under the leadership of
the Child of Night. He ia the result of a magical
prodigicus birth. The book is readily available. I hawve
seen aeveral copies in used bookstores. The connection to
Wicca and nec-paganism is obvious. So ia the parallel to
the Babalon Working. Darker Than You Think iz listed
under "Beligion and Myths™ in The Visual Encyclopedia of
Science Fiction.
Burton Wolfe points out ancther intersection
with the world of sacience fiction. He discusses Parsons
briefly, then brings up the Germanic tierdrama of the 0I0



{he may hawve meant the Golden Dawn). To reclaim their
suppressed animal nature, Wolfe (!} says they would dress
in animal costume and recite this Litany of the Law:
"Mot to go on all fours; that is the Law.
Are we not Men?
Hot to kill without thinking; that is the Law.
Are we not Men?
Man is God. We are men. We are gods. God is man.
His is the place called Heawven.
His is the place called Hell.
His is what ours is.
He iz what we are.
There runs a mouse:
whoever catches her may make a great,
great cap ocut of her fur."”

This last line ia from one of the fairy
tales collected by the brothers Grimm. If the reat sounds
femiliar, it should. H.G. Wells paraphrased it in The
Island of Dr. Moreau. Techno-pop pioneers Devo later usaed
the "Are We Hot Men™ part for their own ends. Wolfe says
that Wells knew of one of the Golden Dawn splinter
groups. Several had formed after Crowley broke up the
original Isis-Urania Lodge in London. He s3ays, "through
him [Crowley] Wells became acquainted with the 0T0.™ I
have no independent confirmation of this.



Eight
"We are a3 old as man."
Bagic Magick: Fundamental Theory and Practice

The enigmatic L. Ron Hubbard was founder of
the notorioua Church of Scientology. In 1969 the Church
thought it prudent to issuse & Statement Cconcerning
Hubkbard's involvement with Parsons. It was & paid

announcement in a London newspaper. This is how it read:

"Hubbard broke up black magic in America:
Dr. Jack Parsons of Pasadena, California, was America's

Humber One solid fuel rocket expert. He was inwvolwed
with the infamous english [sic] black magician Aleister
Crowley who called himself 'The Beast 666'. Crowley ran

an organization called the Order of Templers Orientalis
[sic] ower the world which had savage and bestial
ritea. Dr. Parsons was head of the American branch
located at 100 Orange Grove Lvenue, Pasadena,
California. This was a huge old house which had paying
guests who were the U.A.S. nuclear physicists working at
Cal. tech. Certain agencies objected to nuclear
physicists being housed under the same roof.

"L. Ron Hubbard was still an officer of the
TU.5. Nawvy because he was well known as & writer and
philosopher [3ic] and had friends among the physicists,
he was sent in to handle the situation. He went to live
at the house and inwvestigated the black magic rites and
the general situation and found them wery bad.

"Parsons wrote to Crowley in England about
Hubbard. Crowley 'the Beast 666" evidently detected an
enemy and warned Parsons. This was all proven by the
correspondence unearthed by the [London] Sunday Times.
Hubbard's mission was succe3sful far beyond anyone's
expectations. The house was torn down. Hubbard rescued
a girl they were using. The bleck magic group was
dispersed and never recovered. The physicists included
meny of the sixty-four top U.5. acientists who were
later declared insecure and dismissed £from government



service with 3o much publicity.™
(Statement by the Church of Scientology, December,
1369.)

This official statement contains several
errora. Parsons' house wa3d at 1003 Orange Grove Avenue,
not 100. It was not torn down. Parsons s3ocld it after
Hubbard's departure end moved into a coachhouse on the
Same Pproperty. Hubbard did not rescue Betty but rather
eloped wWith her. She became his second wife before he
divorced his first. The group did not disperse at all.
The O0T0 is bkigger than ewver today, in California and
throughout the world. Agape Lodge did eventually shut its
doors, but not until more than a decade later. Jon Atack
tells us the original statement was later discovered. It
wa3 in Hubbard's handwriting.

Here are some of Hubbard's earlier remarks

concerning Parson3a, Crowley, and the 0OT0. He wrote of
Parsons in a mach more favorable light for a Scientology
bulletin in 14857: "0ne chap by the way, gave u3s 3solid

fuel rockets end assist takeoffs for airplanes too heavily
loaded, and all the rest of this rocketry panorama, and
who formed Aerojet in California and so on. The late Jack
Parsons... Wed not a chemist, the way wWe think of
chemists... He eventually became quite a man.”

Hubbard spoke about Crowley during the
Philadelphia Doctorate <Course in 1952. He said, "The
magic cults of the 8th, %th, 10th, 1llth, l2th centuries in
the Middle Easat were fascinating. The only work that has
anything to do with them is a trifle wild in apots, but
it"s fascinating work... written by Aleister Crowley, the
late Aleister Crowley, my very good friend... It's wery
interesting reading to get hold of a copy of a book, gquite
rare, but it can be obtained, The Master Therion... b¥Y
Aleister Crowley. He signs himself 'The Beast,' the mark
of the Beast, 3iX 3ixty-six.”™ I assume he means Liber AL
wvel Legis, Crowley's Book of the Law. In ancther lecture
Hubbard said, "One fellow, Aleister Crowley, picked up a
level of religious worship which is wery interesting - oh
boy! The Preas played hockey with his head for his whole
life-time. The Great Beast - 666. He Jjust had another
level of religious worship. Yea, agir, vyou're free to



Wworship everything under the Constitution so long a3 it's
Christian.™ As Crowley was English, I don't 3ee how the
Constitution would apply to him.

In 1945 Hubbard waz at the Oak Enoll HNawval
Hospital in San Francisco. He had yet to meet Parsons.
Hubbard complained of wvariousa ailments that were hard to
diagnose. After sewveral wvisits the Navy eventually gave
Hubbard a medical discharge. He began receiving financial
benefits when he said he could no longer practice his
livelihood of being a WEiter. In a Scientology
publication, Hubbard later said he was recertified for
"full combat duty™ in 1949,

In April, 1945 a acience fiction illustrator
named Lou Goldstone brought Hubbkard over to meet Parsons.
Parsaons liked Hubkbard immediately. Parsons had begun his
work with Sara "Betty™ Northrup, Helen's younger a3ister,
after Helen had left with Smith. He encouraged her to
have other lovers as well. She readily agreed, and
irmediately took up with Hubbard. She left with him soon
after end became Mrs. Hubbard. She didn't mow it, but
Hubbard was 3till married.

Hubbard affected Alva Eogera as he did
Paraon=. ERogers and Hubbard were both redheads, and the
latter confided hia belief that all redheada deacended
from the Neanderthal rather than pure Homo sapiens. Keep
thiz in mind when reading Darker Than ¥You Think. L
reporter named Nielson Himmel 1liwved in the house. He
thought he saw a con man behind all those charming war
stories. Himmel was one of the few who refused to lend
Hubbard money. Hubbard did not like him.

Himmel wrote, "There he [Hubkard] was,
living off Parson3' largesse and making out with his
girlfriend right in front of him. Sometimes when the twWo
of them were 3itting at the table together, the hostility
wa3 almost tangible... Jack found it increasingly
difficult to keep his mind on anything but the torrid
affair going on between Ron and Betty and the atmosphere
around the house became supercharged with tension.™

Hubbard left for the Hospital for a while to
strengthen his disability claim. He returned in December,
1945 and resumed his affair with Betty. ©Only a few like



Rogers realized the true pain hidden beneath Parsons®'
cavalier front. He wrote of an accidental peek caught one
night through the cracked-open door:

"It wa3d dimly lit and smoky from incense;
Jack was draped in a black robe and stood with his back
td us, his arma outstretched, in the center of a
pentagram before some 3ort of altar affair on which
several indistinguishable items stood.

"His wolce, which was actually not very
loud, rose and fell in a rhythmic chant of gibberish
which was delivered with such passionate intensity that
ita meaning was frighteningly obvious. After thia brief
and uninvited glimpae intoc the blackest and most 3ecret
center of a tortured man's soul, we gquietly withdrew and
returned to our rooh, wWhere we 3apent the balance of the
night discussing in whispera what we had just
witnessed.”

After Hubbard's return in December, 1945,
Paraons wrote in his diary, ™I have been auffered to pa3s
through an ordeal of hnman love and jealousy... I hawve
found a steunch companion and comrade in Bon... BRon and I
are to continue with our plans for the Order.™ They did
3o a few days later, on January 4th.

DeWolf says Hubbard was part of & local
police attempt to break up the lodge, no doubt based on
the 1969 Church statement. & second Church statement was
igsued in 19E80. It said Hubbard was working for HNaval
Intelligence inatead of the police. J. Gordon Melton
suggeats both Parsons" end Hubbard's stories are true.
Each was seeing thinga from his own point of view.

A Freedom of Information Act request should
be able to locate any declasasified Naval Intelligence
records. Atack says the files he saw on Parsons do not
mention Hubbard. The files he saw on Hubbard show no
evidence of Hubbard's involvement with Intelligence
operations. The police continued to defend Parsons
against his accusers despite Hubbard's presence in the
house. Since both parties are deceased, we may never know
the full story.




Nine
"e.. 3ome of my mOSt ominous predictiona have been all too
grimly fulfilled.™
Freedom is a Two-Edged Sword

Parsons returned with Liber 4% from his trip
to the Mojave in late February, 1946. Hubbard wanted to
smooth over their difficulties. He reported a vision to
Parsons he said was given him by an angel. In his vision
Hubbard saw a beautiful naked woman with long red hair and
gslanted green eye3 astride a large cat. The reader
familiar with Crowley mey recall his repeated references
to the Great Beast and his Scarlet Woman in the biblical
book of EBewvelation. This was how Crowley referred to
himself and his current consort, as Simon Magus had his
Helen. 5She wea Sophia incarnate. This was alac the cover
picture on the original edition of Darker Than You Think
and several of the reprints. My copy has a nice rendition
of the theme by underground comica artist Jeff Jones.

Hubbard called hia angel "The Empress.™ He

said she had saved his life on many occas3ions. Hubbard
had spoken of the Empreas to others before this, though
without giving her description. DeWolf later saeid his

father identified her with the Empress of the Tarot, the
Egyptian Hathor, and even EBabalon. Parsons thought she
might be his Holy Guardian Angel. The result of Hubbard's
vigion was the March 2 - 4 working with Cameron.
Rachmaninoff's Iale of the Dead wa3 the preferred theme.
ks with Prokefiev in January, they playved it at wery high
volume.

To what extent did Hubbard participate in
the Working? Parsons'" 8th Degree rite waz 3solo in nature,
with Hubbard present and acting a3 3cribe. Liter the
eleven formal nights of invocation, he recorded in his
megical diary that he and Hubbard continued their nightly
workings "as appropriate to one of my grade.™ To which
grade did he refer? His 9th Degree working with Cameron
included Hubbard in the role of scribe. Conzider the



following from Parscons' Analysis by a Master of the Temple
(i.e, & Magister Templi, the E8th Degree of the A\A\):
"Betty served to effect B transference from Helen at a
critical period. Had this not occurred, your repressed
homosexual component could  hawe caused & serious
disorder.™

Presumably Cameron served a2 similar
function. Hubbard was merely a scribe and seer. To help
his astral wision, he may have performed his own Bth
Degree mctivities while doing so. It is clear he partook
in no 9th Degree magic. He never engaged in any 1lth
Degree magic (homosexual).

Hubbard had been sending what little he had
to his wife and children. They were living with his
parents in Washington state. DeWolf was one of the
children Hubbard left behind when he left San Francisco
and the Naval Hospital £for Pasadena. He 3aw his father
for the last time in 1948. For leck of money, Bon left
with Betty in RApril, 194&. Later that month Parsons would
realize they had cheated him. He threatened to chase the
two. A call to Hubbard scon calmed Parsons down.

By June he could wait no longer. Parsons
went to Floride efter Hubbard and Betty. They had taken
the partnership's money, most of which was Parsons'. They

bought 2 sailboat with it. Parsons followed them to the
Atlentic coast. He then invoked Bartzabel (a form of
Mars). A sudden sguall caught the pair and forced them to
return to shore. Parsons was waiting for them. He got a
little of his money back, with a worthless promissory note
for the rest. Parsons returned to Pasadena and never
heard from either party again.

Parsons' bad luck now forced him to stop
sending Helen and Smith money. His regular contributions
to Crowley continued until the latter's death in 1947.
0T0 member Louis Culling makes an interesting remark.
Culling says that Parsons was bootlegging nitroglycerine
to raise money after leaving JFL and Aerojet. Parsons
sold the old house in 1946 and moved intoc a coach house on
the property with his wife Cameron. I am not sure where
the 0T0O met after this. The Agape Lodge did not close
until ten years later.



Hubbard committed bigamy with Betty on
Iugust 10, 1944. Three centuries earlier John Dee had
also experimented with the Seventh Aire, using Edward

Eelley a3 a medium. After their terrifying revelations
from an angel of that same RAire, Helley robbed Dee, ran
off with his wife, and began a criminal career. The

parallel to Hubbard's treatment of Parsons is striking.
Huobbard was an expert hypnotist. Miller
attributes this knowledge to Parsons. Hubbard later said

he worked for twelwve years researching Dianetics. It
first appeared in 1948. This was just a year or so after
his departure from Pasadena. Much of his research mast

have taken place in the strange house on Orange Grove
Avenue,

After he tired of Betty, Hubbard wrote the
FBI to implicate her in the Red Scare. "I beliewe this

woman to be under heavy duoress,™ he wrote. "She was born
inte & criminal atmosphere, her father having a criminal
record. Her half-sister [Helen?] was an inmate of an
agylum. She was part of a free love colony in Pasadena
[z was Hubbard]. She had attached herself to a Jack
Parsons, the rocket expert, during the war and when she
left him he was a wreck. Farther, through Parsons, she
was strangely intimate with many scientists of Los Alamo
Gordos [Alamogordo, New Mexico]. I did not know these

things until I myself investigated the matter.™

This last reference mey have been a
reference to his espionage activities, but Miller says the
FBI did not take him seriocusly. He had written to accuse
her of being a Communist or Communist sympathizer. His
FBI file was already larger than most so they did not
investigate the issue. If any reference exists to his spy
days, the FBI would hawe it. Why did they not take him
seriously? Here is another instance where the Freedom of
Information Rct might shed some light.

More interesting is Hubbard's astatement to
"Lexi™ Hubbard's lawyer. Blexis WValerie Hubbard was
Betty's daughter. After he had become wealthy, Lexi went
to him looking for finaneial support. His prepared
statement read, "Your mother wes with me as a secretary in
Savannah in late 1948... In July 1948 T was in Elizabeth,



Hew Jersey, wWriting a movie [title not giwven]. She turned
up destitute and pregnantc.”

Miller  writes, "Hubkbard implied that
Alexia' FfFather was Jack Parasons [emphasis added], but out
of the kindness of his heart he had taken her mother in to
gee her through '"her trouble'. Later he said he came up
from Palm Springs, California, where he waa living, and
found Alexis abandoned; she was just a toddler, a 'cute
little thing®, end 3o he had taken her along on his
wanderinga for a couple of years.™ Waa Alexis the
Moonchild?! She was born March 8, 1950, two yeara too
late. If she was the child of Parsona then she was
probably 3ired as part of a Great Working. To what end we
may never Know. Hubbard's records are not acce3aible.
Parsons" magical diary for the period might tell. I do
not know if it has survived.

Miller continues, "Hubbard told Alexis that
her mother had been a Hazi spy during the Second World War
and suggested that the divorce action wa3 a spurious ploy
on her part to win control of Scientology.™ —Remember,
Miller points out, there wa3s no legal marriage at all.
Alexis never did get to 3ee her father, be he Hubbard or
Parsons.

Cne former agsociate of Hubbard's
interviewed by Miller said Hubbard admitted to having
participated in magic. Melton savy3, "Hubbard's astory is
congistent with the obaervation that the present Church of
Scientology ahows no direct OT0 influence.™ The problem
iz that such a comparison merely relies on structural
appearances. When one considers that the foundation of
each of these ayatems i3 a secret, 3sacred history coupled
with +wvarious spiritual exercises in the form of
visualizaticn technigques, the relationship becomes
clearer. ©Of courae, these technigques were not original to
Crowley either. He merely revised and aystematized them
in his own inimitable way, as did Hubbard after him. In a
footnote, Melton atates that the documentation shown him
by the Church of Scientology went further toward
substantiating Hubbard's story than those shown him by the
O0T0 go toward substantiating Parsons'. He lists one of
Hubbard's previous occupations a3 "inwvestigator for the



Los ingeles Police Department,
Church's 1969 statement.

implying acceptance of the



Ten

"Let the Scarlet Woman beware... I will slay me her
child.™
The Book of the Law IIT:43

Dizillusioned, Parsons drifted away £from
magick and focused his will on his technical career. He
had little success. In 1948 Cameron left. On Halloween of
that year, Babalon appeared to Parsons and urged him to
resume his magick. Parsons turned once more to God in his
time of need. Many who suffer the ills of the physical
world turn to the spiritual one. Parsons began a
seventeen-day working "of the wand,™ the climax of which
was Babalon's manifestation in a dream. He had 3Smith
chrizsten him Belarion Armiluss A1 Dajjal AntiChrist.
Parsons then took the Oath of the Abyss. Crossing the
Abyss inwvolwves the total denial of the materisl world and

detachment from the ego. Parsons endured an unspecified
forty-day ordeal. It probably involved a retreat of some
sort and fasting. Upon his return he wrote a two-page

document he called The Book of AntiChriat. In it he
predicted the manifestation of Babalon upon the earth
within sewven years. He alao predicted that a nation would
embrace Thelema. Babalon told him these things would come
to pass only if he survived the next sewven years. He did
not.

Francis Hing writes, "[H]e issued an occult
manifesto called The Book of Anti-Christ which consisted
of two parts, The Black Pilgrimage and The Manifeato of

the Anti-Christ. The first part dealt with the
difficulties he had encountered in both his interior and
exterior lives - his disillusionment with ordinary life
with its financial &and emotional difficulties, the

spiritual ‘'dryness' and sense of abandonment he had
guffered. This total disenchantment with life, the loss
of money, home, wife and, later, mistress had mede him
undertake the Blaeck Pilgrimage, a spiritual odyvasey which
eventually forced him to choose between three



possibilities: auicide, a retreat into madness, or taking
the 'Oath of the Abyss'. This was a megical adventure
egsentially identical with the undergoing of the influence
of opening oneself to the powers of the demon Choronzon
which Crowley had experienced in the Algerian desert.™

The wyear 1949 may be significant in relation
to the number of Liber 4%. Parsons chose the third path
and took the Oath of the Abyss. Symonds suggests he chose
the second. Parsons spent forty days in the Bbyss. This
was his Black Pilgrimage, foretold by Babalon three years
gearlier in Liber 489. Had he succeeded in crossing, he
would have completed the requirements of the seventh grade
aof the BRM\A\N. He would have become one of the Secret
Chiefs. By calling himself a Master of the Temple,
Parsons was saying a3 mach. Was Smith his superior in the
A\A\? Were both still actiwve in the A\A\ despite their
expulsion from the 0TO0? Were these actions taken
independent of any initiating body? These guestions
remain unanswered.

One of Parsons' last letters to his friend
Karl Germer (Frater Saturnus) read,

"Moo doubt you will be delighted to hear from
an adept who has undertaken the operation of his H.G.A.
[Holy Guardian Angel] in accord with our traditions.

"The operation began auspiciously with =a
chromatic display of psychosomatic symptoms, and
progressed rapidly to acute psychosis. The operator has
alternated satisfactorily between menic hysteria and
depressing melancholy stupor on approximately 40 cycles,
and satisfactory progress has been maintained in social
ogtracism, economic collapses and mental disassociation.

"These statements are mentioned not in any
vainglorious spirit of conceit, but rather that they may
serve as comfort and inspiration to other aspirants on
the Path.

"Now I'm off to the wilds of Mexico for a
period, alsc in pursuit of the elusive H.G.A. before
winding up in the guard finally wia the booby hotels,
the graveyard, or — ? If the finel, you can tell all
the little Practicuses that I wouldn't have missed it
for anything.



"[Signed] No one. Once called 210.7

This is how the front page of the Los
Angeles Times read for June 18, 1952: T"ROCKET SCIENTIST
KILLED 1IN PASADENA. Tragedy Drives His Mother To
Suicide. Myaterious Notes Found In Wreckage.™ The
comminity 3till considered Parsons & rocket scientist at
this late date.

Hubbard had channelled a prophetic me3sage
on March 2, 1944. It is ironic for the way Paraons
died. "She [Babalon] is the flame of life, power of
daerkness, she destroys with a glance, she may take thy
soul. She feeds upon the death of men... She shall
absorb thee, and thou shalt become living flame before She
incarnates.”™ Grant wa3 the first to have noticed the
aymbolic nature of Parsons' exit. He says of Cameron that
she "claimed to be the incarnation of the Scarlet Woman,
and she whose Word is Life, Love, Liberty and Light proved
too mach for Parsons, who found in her & devouring
flame.™ Cameron's claim to be Babalon may be a result of
the original operation having failed on the phyaical
plane.

Parsons would not have predicted Babalon's
phyaical manifestation within seven years, as he did in
"The Manifesto of the AntiChrist,™ if she were already
here in the person of Cameron. After the three-day
working in March, 1946, Parsons had proclaimed, "Babalon
iz incarnate upon the earth today, awaiting the proper
hour of Her manifestation.™ Did this refer to Cameron or
to the baby he thought she was carrying? In 1949 Parsons
revised this statement. Perhaps he anticipated Cameron's
return. In "The S5tar of Babalon™ Parsons admits he did
not ¥now in whom She is incarnate. He said Her spirit was
Wwithin all women who proclaimed their equality to men. He
alsc admitted to an COedipus compleX. In private
correspondence, Grant explained to the present author that
Cameron's posse3ssion would have taken years to develop if
it were to do 3o at all. The 1946 operation was merely a
bkeginning. Parsons did not liwve long enough to 3see its
end. Cameron eventually caeme to believe she was Babalon,
but Grant says otherwise in Hecate's Fountain.

On June 17, 1952 at 5:08 PM, Parsons dropped



a wial o0f fulminate of mercury. He died in the
explosion. Flame consumed him, as Babalon had predicted.
His mother then swallowed a deliberate owverdose of
3leeping pills in the presence of an invalid friend with
whom she lived. The friend could only watch as the lady
3lowly died. The (Pasadena) Independent for June 18 says
Parsons was still conscious when rescuers found him. He
died an hour later at a hoapital.

In March, 1946 Parson had written, "™ And in
that day [the manifestation of Babalon] my work will be
accomplished, and T shall be blown away upon the breath of
the father.™ Seven years later, Parsons himself was
"blown away,™ as John Keel noted.

In The Occult Explosion, HNat Freedland
interviewed a filmmeker acguaintance of Cameron's ({Curtis
Harrington?) . "I hawve every reason to beliewve that Jack
Parsons was working on some very sStrange exXxperiments,
trying to create what the o0ld alchemiats called =&
homuncnlus, a tiny artificial men with magic powers. T
think that's what he was working on when the accident
happened.™

This must be the source of Hoffmen's saying,
"In 1852 Parsons was blown up in what i3 officially
described as an accident but which others have said was &
homuncnlus experiment that went bananas.™ Hoffman further
relates a "similar attempt™ by unnamed others, whom he
says used the radiation released by the first atomic blast
to animate their homunculus.

Some of Parsons' friends did not believe he
would kill himself. Others did not believe an expert

could make such a fatal mistake. Cameron tells of a
gecond explosion from under the floorboarda, implying
murder rather than an accident or suicide. In the O0T0O

newsletter The Magiecal Link, she says a good suspect is an
explosives expert against whom Parsons had testified. He
had been pardoned prior to the fatal explosion. Raising
Hell: &n Encyclopedia of Devil Worship and Satanic Crime
claims Scientologists planted the  bomb. This is
ridiculous. Scientology was only introduced in 1851. How
many homicidal Scientologists could there be a year
later? Hubbard called Crowley his "wery good friend™ in



the Philadelphia Doctorate Course the year Parsons died.
He praised Parsons in print a3 late a3 1857. Hubbard
could hawve gone to Parsons at any time and made amends.
He had no reason to murder him.

Parsons had been working on movie special
effects, planning to guit his job at Hughes RAircraft and
finance a trip to Israel. He had Jjust lost his security
clearance 3elling the Israelis his own classified
inventions. The gowvernment declassified them as a result
and reinstated his clearance. After a second occurrence
they decided they could not trust him.

Parsons and Cameron reunited after a short
separation. They were heading to Mexico to pursue a
career explosives — and magic. He was alsoc working on The
Gnosis and The Witchcraft. Grant cryptically says Cameron
continued Parsons's work after his death. So does
Hymenaeus Beta, current leader of the OTO.

Church of Satan founder Anton LaVey was a
detective at the time of Parsons' death. He wolunteered
for what the police called the 800 cases. This refers to

flying saucers, haunted houses, and other strange
OCCUrrences. Wolfe talks of LaVey's amusement at the
police report filed in 1852: "Along with a series of

papers containing unfathomable chemical symbols, police
found weird religious and occult philosophies in Parsons”
private home laboratory. ©Omne note found in the wreckage
was excerpted by newspapers a3 follows: 'Let me know
[thy] misery totally and spare not and be spared not
sacraments and crucifixion. O my passion and shame, dark
body of the unattainable, 0 most beloved, most utterly
lost - Mothers, sisters...'™



Eleven

"The sword remains to be manifested.”™
nalyzia by a Master of the Temnple

One of the goala of the alchemists waa to
fix mercury, i.e. solidify it. Fulminate of mercury is
one such form. It is as unstakle a3 its name suggests.
To fulminate is to atrike with lightning. One could say
in Parsons' case that mercury fixed him. Mercurius
peychopompus, Mercury as soul-guide, came for Parsons on
June 17, 1952. He led his tortured soul to the next
world.

One alaoc may interpret the fixing of mercury
on ancther level. This wiscous element's resemblance to
gemen did not go unnoticed by the ancients. The two hawve
ancient associations in esoteric tradition. The OTO
inherited their form of tantric yoge directly from sources
in British-occocupied India. Its goal was the retention of
semen by the male during intercourse, which in turn
prolongs the ecstatic experience. Divine oracles often
result. Other rites imvolve the return of semen to the
male after ejaculation. The lightning flash (fulmination)
iz a symbol of the moment of orgasm at ejaculation. The
sky-god impregnates his bride, the Earth. To fix mercury
is to postpone this event, or prevent it altogether.

Do not think that sex magic is a lusatiul
indulgence. One needs extreme discipline to carry out
repeated operations. It requires good phyaical fitness
and a strong, focused will. To paraphrase Mircea Eliade,
the same act that condemns men's soula to thousands of
years in purgatory brings the yvogi hia salwvation. It is
the intent of the act that matters.

The purpose of Paraona' operation has been
underemphasized. He sought to produce & magical child who
would be the product of her environment rather than her
heredity. Crowley describea the Moonchild in just these
terms. The Babalon Working itself waa a preparation for
what was to come: 2 thelemic mes33iah. This messiah would



mature in & magically-influenced environment. She would
then assume a leadership role. One could see how the
effort spent by Parsona and Cameron would focus their
minds in this direction. The many episodes of sex megick
were a strong influence on the two. When one is in &
valnerable state such as this, one's sense impressions
become subconsciously reinforced. ERepeated efforts serve
to strengthen the intent.

When Miller writes of the March 2 - 4, 1946
operation, he =3ays that Parsons and Cameron began
"copulating furiously™ on the altar while Hubbard took
notes. This is not the way one goes esbout performing
tantra. With magick it is the symbolic intent of the act
that iz the key issue. Once the invocations were done,
all that remained was toc impregnate Cameron. Miller may
be right in his description. Parsons did induce an
altered state of some sort to contact Babalon originally,
either sexually or chemically. To do 3o while trying to
incarnate the Goddess is unnecessary.

Ecstatic comminion need not take place as
long as symbolic union does. Temporality stops while the
participants return to sacred time. They leave profane
history and return to before Creation. Their sexual act
reproduces the original genesis. It regenerates the world
and makes it holy. That was the final purpose of Parsons’
magic.

Parsons and Cameron represented the god and
his consort. The symbolism was complete. The lightning
flash had to take place to produce a living child. It
did, but without the desired result - at least, on the
physical plane. Adam {or rather, Ewe} was not reborn, and
the new race of thelemic men did not appear. The guest
for the perfection of Creation continues.



Appendix A: Reconstructed Chronology.

2118 BC The year 1 Anno Babalon.

October 12, 1875 Aleister Crowley 1ia born in
England.

ca. 1EB30s Wilfred T. Smith is born
in Tonbridge, HKent.

October 2, 1914 Jack Parsons is born in Los
Angeles.

1915 Crowley comes to
America. Achad introduces him to Smith.

1919 Crowley leaves America.

1922 Marjorie Cameron born in
Iowa.

1924 Sara "Betty"™ HNorthrup
born.

19249 Crowley publishes
Moonchild, written during WWI.

1930 Smith movea Agape Lodge
to Loa Angeles.

1936 GALCIT founded by
Malina, won Karman, et al.

Malina visits

Goddard in BRoswell.

Spring, 1837 GALCIT moves onto the campus
of TUSC.

December, la3v GALCIT's moderate  successes
receive media attention.

May, 1938 Army Rir Corps viait
increases GALCIT funding.

1935 Parsons meets Smith.

1540 Von EKarmen and Malina
mathematically prove viaebility of slowldburning

fuel.
Jack Williamson

publishes Darker Than You Think.
July, 1940 GALCIT's first ligquid
propellants tested.



1840/1941 Williamson meets Parsons.
1841 Malina, Parsons, Forman
move to Arroyo Sec.
The Parsons
officially join the 0TO and the A\A\.
Smith seduces Helen
Parsons.
Williamson visits
Lodge at Smith's house.

Bugust 12, 14941 First JATO successfully
tested.
October, 1941 First 100001kb. thrust unit
tested.
December, 1941 The United States enter the war.
1342 GALCIT"s funding
increased for war sffort.
Parsons" father
dies, leaves him house.
Lodge moves to

Parsons' house. Smith sent away.
Police inwvestigate
Parsons for the first time.
Parsons assumes role
of Acting Head of Lodge.
Parsons takes Betty
a3 his new mistress.

March, 1942 Aerojet Corporation formed.

April, 1942 JATO flown successfully on
bomkber.

1843 Parsons writes ™I hight

Don Quixote.™
Helen has & child by
Smith. Parsons diwvorces her.
1944 GALCIT reformed a3 Jet
Propulsion Laboratory.
Parsons formally
named Head of Lodge.
1845 WAC Corporal launched by
JPL, first rocket to leave Earth's
atmosphere.
Hag Hammadi Libkrary



found in Egypt.

April, 1945 Parsons meets Hubbard.

May, 1945 Hubbard mowves in with
Parsons.

July, 1945 Atomic bombs dropped on
Japan by US.

fugust, 1945 Japan surrenders, war ends.

December, 1945 Hubbard returns to Pasadena
after atint in Navy hospital.

1945/19446 Regina Kahl dies.

January, 1944 Parsons removed from

leadership role by Crowley: called to account by
Lodge shortly after.

January 4, 1944 Parsons open3s the Temple with
Hubbard present.

January 5, 1946 First solo rites of the
Babalon Working begin, invoking twice each night.

January 5§, 19446 Windstorm begins during
Working, continues throughout the night.

January 14, 1944 The eleven-night Working ends.

January g, 1944 Parsonz and Hubbard go to
Mojave Desert, meet "Venusian.™

January 19, 194& Parsons and Hubbard continue
nightly invocations until February 27.

February 20, 1946 Lllied Enterprises incorporated
a3 & partnership.

February 23, 1946 Parsons writes Crowley about
Cameron's appearance.

February 27 or 28 Hubbard leaves on peracnal
busineas for a few days.

February 28, 1946 Parsons goes to Mojave Desert
alone, receives Liber 49.

March 1, 1946 Parsons returna, prepares
temple.

March 2, 1946 Hubbard returns, tellas of

"Empress.™ Threelday Working with Cameron
and Hubbard begins.
Book of Babalon produced as a result.
april, 194% Hubbard and Betty leave
for Florida.
april 19, 1944 Crowley derides Parsons'



Working in letter.
July 5, 1846 Parsons inwvokes Bartzabel
in Miami, storm catches Hubbard and Betty
and forces them back

to shore.
Eugust 10, 1544 Hubbard commits bkigamy with an
unsuspecting Betty.
October, 194& Parsons and Cameron married.
1347 Dead Sea Scrolls found.
Israel founded a3 a nation.
Transistor
invented. Sound barrier broken.
Alleged flying

saucer crash in Roswell, New Mexico.
National UF0O flap
follows Washington State sightings.

December 1, 14947 Aleister Crowley dies in
Hastings, England.
1848 Cameron leaves Parsons.

Parsons takes his
Oath of the AntiChrist.
Hubbard wisits £first
wife and children for last time.
First article on
Dianetics appears.

October 31, 1848 Babalon appears to Parsons;
170day Working begun.
13945 Parsons takes Oath of

the Abyss in presence of Smith.
Parsons writes Book
of BAntiChrist.
Palomar Observatory
opened at 33 degrees north letitude.
Hubbard jokingly
writes Forrest Ackerman about expanding Dianetics

into a whole
philosophy.
18945/14950 Cameron returns to Parsons.
1950 herojet's Daniel Fry

sees his firat saucer.
March 8, 1850 Alexis Valerie "Lexi™ Hubbard



born.

195] Firat edition of John
Symonds"' The Great Beast.

14952 Hubbard founds Church of
Scientology.

June 17, 1952 Parsons dies in explosion at
5:08 pm.

1950s Kenneth Anger films,
including one with Cameron.

1961 Cameron Bppears in
Curtis Harrington's Night Tide.

December, 1969 Church of Scientology releases
first statement.

1872 Parzons Crater named.

1980 Church of Scientology
releases second statement.

1989 Freedom is =z TwolEdged

Sword published by 0TO.



Appendix B: The Derivation of 210.

Smith's megical motto in the 0T0 was Velle
Omnia Velle Nihil. Its numerical walue is 132. This is
the gematria of the initials "V.0.V.N.™ Smith abbreviated
his magical name a3 Fra. 132. Parsons'" motto was Thelemum
Obtentum Procedero Amoris Muptiae. This is Latin for "the
gbtainment of thelema 0O Will O through the nuptials of
love."™ The initials T.C.P.A.N. were also a declaration of
Parsons dedication: To Pan. In Hebrew the enumeration is
400 + 70 + 80 + 1 + 50 = a01. Parsons counted it as
I.0.P.A.N., giving the more desirable sum 210. "Io Pan"
iz Greek for "Hail Pan.™ Crowley's Magick In Theory and
Practice Opens with a poem by this name.

The mumbers 1 through 20 add to 210. In 777
Crowley alac speaks of certain numbers important to each
of the sephiroth (3phere3a) of the kabbalistic Tree of
Life. The first haa the value 1, the 3second 1+2 = 3, the
third 14+2+3 = &, and so on. There are ten altogether.
Although Crowley does not say 30, a little quick math will
show these ten wvalues also add to 210. In 777 Crowley
calls the meaning of 210 "too holy™ to divulge.

I beliewve it is in The Book of Liea where he
makes plain the key to understanding the significance of
the nmumber 210. Taken from left to right, we sSee how the
2 (the magician and God) Join to become the 1 (in a
my3tical union) and have their egos annihilated in eternal
bEiga. They have become naught by temporarily leaving
real time. Hote that Crowley's First Degree name,
Perdurabo, means "I (that is, the ego) shall endure until
the end.™ What is the end of "Perdurabo™ if not "0"2

Thus the £formula represented by 210 ia a
mo3t holy one. It deacribea the mystic's union with God.
This aymbolic union can occur on the physical plane with
one who ia not God, but a god incarnate. To Parsons, this
god incarnate was Cameron.



Appendix C: The Significance of Babalon.

Babylon is the spirit of Rome, the Rome who
subjugated the children of Israel. She i3 alsoc a symbol
of the material world in gemeral. The Land of the Dead O
Egypt 0 was a similar symbol for certain gnostic sects in
the Middle East. Babylon is the gnostic Sophia, s3lighted
by John but justifiably so, &3 she is 3till in her fallen
state. She iz the Helen of Simonm Magus, but John fails to
gffer her redemption. She is the Chokmah of the kabbalah,
or its glippoth.

The name "BABYLON™ is from the Babylonian
"Babfll]l, "™ meaning "the gate of God."™ At one time every
city thought that they were at the center of the world.
The mystical center of is where the gate between the upper
and lower worlds is. S0 it is with Jerusalem today for
three of the world's major religions. S0 it is with
Benares for the Hindus. The Hebrew form of the word is
"Bab{Al." It ias mwusually written ™"Bab-E1"™ or simply
Babel. The name ({actually a title) of God usually
translated "E1™ (if translated at all) is actually spelled
with an "A" {aleph in Hebrew. Compare the Greek alpha).

Crowley corrected the spelling to "BABAToN™
to give what was to him a8 meaningful gematria. I use the
lower case "o" to indicate omicron, the upper case to
indicate omega. I have a limited knowledge of Latin, but
I am sure "BRBAToN™ was an acronym for at least one phrase
of Crowley's devising.

The original Greek spelling in the book of
Revelation is "BRBYLON,™ with the final wowel long as in
omega. Gematria i3 the name medieval Jewish scholars gawve
to the ancient practice of substituting numbers for the

letters in a word or name. They would add up those
nurmbers to get a significant result. It comes from =a
Greek word meaning "to measure (land)."™ This practice

dates at least to Babylon, when single letters were used
to stand for numbers rather than spelling them cut. In an
age that has used Arabic numerals for centuries, the



significance of this achievement may be hard to
appreciate.

In this system of numeration, A =1, B = 2,
and o on. After the tenth letter ("I™ in the Hebrew and
Greek alphabets, sSometimes written as "Y") there was no

need for an 11 since "IA™ stood for a 10 followed by & 1.
This iz the way we form numerals in our base 10 system.
RBeaders of H.P. Lovecraft will recognize ™IA™ as the

hailing eall to Cthulhn. The elewventh letter ig "K.™ Its
value is 20, and soc on. Thus "BABYLON™ = 2 + 1 + 2 + 400
+ BO + 800 + 50 = 1285. This is not a meaningful

result. MNote that "Y" is the Greek uwpsilon. Its original
lower-case form was "u.

Crowley's corrected spelling "BRBALON™ = 2 +
Y £ 20 ¥ 030 £ 90 o BE = Z156. This number was
significant to John Dee, being the product of 12 and 13.
These were the dimensions of the table upon which he
received the Enochian alphabet from an angel. Crowley
referred to this number as the number of the City of the
Pyramids, where initiates would spend the Night of Pan.
According to legend, Pan sleeps in Arcadia, where the
river runs underground. Babylon was known for its
ziggurats, stepped pyramids built for the gods to
descend. They served as a model for the Tower of Babel of
biblical fame, alasc immortalized in the Tarot. It is not
hard to understand the significance Crowley attached to
this number.

Thayer notea a wvarieant spelling in sSome
later manuscripts: "BABAULON.™ The =Sum here iz 1355.
Again, nothing significant i3 rewvealed. Here I hawve
written the upsilon a3z "U" for ease of pronunciation.
Hote that the additional "o™ i3 omicrom, while the final
"0" remains omega. After a little experimentation of my
own, I propose a new spelling: TBABYLoN,™ with the only
change being the substitution of omicron for omega. This
ig an obvious change, a3 "Oon™ i3 a common Greek neuter
ending, appropriate for the name of a city. The result

given is meaningful. Although moat cities were of the
feminine gender, I find it significent that after changing
only the form of one wvowel, "BABYLoN™ =2 + 1 + 2 + 400 +

30 + 70 + 50 = 555.



Appendix D: Liber 49 and The Book of Babalon.

Liber 4% has 77 wverses. The sevenlpointed
star is sacred to Babalon (which has seven letters), and 7
X 7 = 49. Beside being two sevens sidellbyllside, 77 is 7 x
11. Elewven is the number of the false sephiroth known as
Daath. Daath is false or carnal knowledge, i.e. knowledge
in the Biblical 3ense. Thus 11 is the numbker of 3ex
magic. This is the reason Parsons' Working in January,
1946 lasted eleven nights. Any male readers who remember
their boyhood should recall that, while one counts to 10
on one's fingers, it regquirea an extra digit to count 11.

Crowley adopted the old English apelling
"magick™ to differentiate his pursuits from ordinary
fortuneltelling. The extra "K" s8tands for kteia, the
Greek word for wvulwva. It may alac denote khabs or khu,
the Egyptian for the male and female organs respectively.
"Magic™ haa five letters, aignifying the pentagram.
"Magick™ has 3ix, signifying the hexagram. The two
interlocking triangles of the hexagram represent the
intersection of Heaven and Earth, of God and man. One
eagteric interpretation of this symbol i3s a3exual in
nature. The union of 5 and 6, of pentagram and hexagram,
ig the number 11.

Elewven is the number of Iletters in
ABRBAHADABRA, Crowley'a corrected aspelling of abracadabra.
Hote that the gematria of MAGICK is 40 + 1 + 3 + 10 + 3 +
20 = 77. The XIth Degree of the O0T0 is en inveraion of
the IXth Degree that Crowley started for working with
homosexual magic. In this case the number 11 may 3stand
for twin erect phalli.

Of the 77 original werses of Liber 4%, 73
survive. They are in The Boock of B.AB. A L. O.NH. with
surviving fragments of Parsons original Book of Babalon.
The Book of B.A B A L .ON. wa3 published by the Nephthys
Lodge of the Ordo Templi Orientis in Canada. It includes
pertinent diary records. The Nephthys Lodge alaoc
published Paraons" The Book of AntiChriat and several of



his poems. They are all out of print. Liber 4% begins:

"{1} Yea, it is I, BABALON.

"{2) And this is my book, that iz the fourth
chapter of the Book of the Law, He completing the HName,
for I am out of NUIT by HORUS, the incestuous sister of
BRAOHCOROKHUIT. ™

Five of the surviving werses mention fire,
flame or burning. Three mention the Black pilgrimage.
Two mention the number 11, albeit one incorrectly so.
Verse &5 calls it the number of a witches coven, but that
mumber iz 13. References to Crowley'as work, especially
the Book of the Law, abound. Those femiliar with that
work will find this one easy enough to interpret.

Verse 48 is, "Now is the hour of birth at
hand. HNow shall my adept be crucified in the Basilisk
abode.™ This refers to Crowley's Bmalantrah Working. The
Mmalantrah Working took place on & sclitary island in
upstate New York during World War I. One of the entries
in Crowley's Magical Record for the period reads, "He hath
crucified & toad in his basilisk abode.™ Crowley
christened a frog "Jesus" and crucified him. This
signalled the Equinox of the Gods, the passing from the
age of Osiris to the age of Horus hailed in The Book ofF
the Law. The "basilisk abode™ may refer to the womb, as
legend says the basilisk is borm of menstrual bloocd. In
Greek, basileca means "king". The toad or frog is =&
gymbol of transition, liwving as it does in two worlds
{water and dry land).

Two chapters survive of Parsons' original
The Book of Babalon. One, "The Star of Bebalon,™ iz in
the Starfire wversion of Staley"s article. It is alao in
Freedom is a TwolEdged Sword. It consists of directions
from Babalon to the expected Magical Child. The other
chapter consists of quotes from secret O0T0 documents. It
remains unpubklished.



Appendix E: Freedom is a Two-Edged Sword.

The appearance in 1989 of a collection of
Parsons" unpublished essaya is to credit for the renewed
interest in the man. Wilson reviewed Freedom is a
TwolEdged Sword Ifavorably in Magical Blend (but 3ee one
reader"™s reaponse in the following issue'a letters
column) . Parsons originally wrote the essay from which
the book takes its title in 1346, probebly after the
Babalon Working. Thia 1950 rewrite includes Parsona"
commentary on the Bed Scare. The e3say'as premise ia that
both Church and State have erocded cur hardiwon individual
liberties for conformity. I believe it was one of our
founding fathera who 8aid, "The price of freedom is
eternal vwvigilance.” Parsons" "Freedom is a TwolEdged
Sword™ is about eternal wvigilance.

Much of the other material reproduced in
Freedom is a Two-Edged Sword deals with two of Parsons”
poatdTO projects: The Gnosis and The Witchcraft. The
former was an attempt to set up a regular form of worship
for Parsons and whomever would follow. Based on the
surviving fragments it is different from Crowley's Gnostic
Masa. Parsons Christianized his Gnosis by putting Sophia
in the role of deughter of God. He equated her with the
Holy Ghost. Her union with Christ was God. I cannot
trace this body of thought to any historical form of
Gnosticiam. Sophia was wusually the mother of God, and
Christ the savior of both. Parsons wrote ™0On Magick,™
"The Gnostic Creed,™ and "The Gnostic Doctrine™ to this
end.

Parsons' other project was The Witchcrait, a
course on magick for the layman. Surviving documents
include "Basic Magick: Fundamental Theory and Practice,™
"Manifeato of The Witchcraft,”™ and a few chaptera of a
book called The Cup, the Sword and the Crux Ansata.
Parsons wrote the manifesto June 15, 1950. He =atilk
thought enough of Babalon to note this as the year 4000.
This date iz inconsistent with previous dates. In 1946



Hubbkard had proclaimed the year of Babalon 4063. In 1949
Parsons dated The Book of AntiChrist 406&. The year 4000
may be a misprint.

Short outlines on General Field Theory that
Parsons left unfinished could almost be taken as a
precursor of Rupert Sheldrake's morphogenetic field
theory. MNotes on Wagner's The Ring take us to the final
chapter. It is ™The 5Star of Bebalon,™ which I have
already mentioned. Part of Parsons' The Book OF Babalon,
it consists of instructions receiwved from Babalon herself
for the Magical Child. Much like the magical letter in
the gnostic "Hymn of the Pearl,™ these instructions would
serve to effect an anammesia on the child's part, to
further her mission on Earth. Appended to Freedom ias a
TwolEdged Sword i3 & bkibliography of Parsons' work in
print, including some poetry I have not seen reproduced
elzsewhere.
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FROM THE PUBLISHERS OF
CrAsH Cottusion MAGAZINE:

Jack PArsoNs AND THE FALL oF
BABALON 1S THE FIRST PUBLISHED
ATTEMPT TO ANSWER THE QUESTION,
“WHY DID PARSONS ATTEMPT TO
INCARNATE THE GODDESS WHICH ALEISTER
CROWLEY CALLED BABALON AND WHAT
WAS PARSONS TRYING TO ACCOMPLISH
THROUGH HIS USE OF SEX MAGICK?"
WiTtH THE AID OF oriciNAL OTO
DOCUMENTS AND SOURCES AS DIVERSE
AS SCIENCE FICTION AND SCIENTOLOGY,
AUTHOR PAur RYDEEN HAS FOUND AN
ANSWER TO THAT IMPORTANT QUESTION.




